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           Plaintiffs, by their counsel CARL J. MAYER and BRUCE I. AFRAN, individually 
and on behalf of all others similarly situated, as and for their Amended Complaint against 
defendants assert as follows: 
 
 
 

REPRESENTATIVE VERIZON SUBSCRIBERS 

1. . Plaintiff  The Rev. Joe McMurray is a subscriber of Verizon since October 2002 

and residing at Trinity Methodist Community Church, 11604 SW Archer Road, 

Gainesville, Florida. Plaintiff The Rev. Charlene Mann is a subscriber of Verizon 

Communications Inc. (Verizon) and has been during the relevant time period and residing 

at 32 Oak Hill Lane, Fitchburg, Massachusetts.  Plaintiff Dr. Michael F. Reusch is a 

subscriber of Verizon  since 1996 and residing at Windsor Drive, Princeton Junction, 

New Jersey.  Plaintiff Dr. Trudy Bond is a subscriber of Verizon and has been during the 

relevant time period and residing at 3131 Executive Parkway, Suite 104, Toledo, Ohio.  

Plaintiff Prof. Robert Newby is a subscriber of Verizon and has been during the relevant 

time period and residing in Mount Pleasant, Michigan. Plaintiff Eleanor M. Lynn, Esq. is 

a subscriber of Verizon since Janary 2000 and  residing at 18-2 America Way, Salem, 

Massachusetts.  Plaintiff Stephanie Meket is a subscriber of Verizon and has been during 

the relevant time period and residing at Riverdale, New York.  Plaintiff Thomas S. 

Dwyer is a subscriber of Verizon and resides at 1603 Cumberland Street, Pittsburgh, 

Pennsylvania.  Plaintiff James Van Alstine is a subscriber of Verizon and has been during 

the relevant time period and residing in New York.  Plaintiff Michele Rosen is a 

subscriber of Verizon and has been during the relevant time period and residing in 

Delaware. Plaintiff Harris Sondak is a subscriber of Verizon and has been during the 

relevant time period and residing at 738 6th Avenue, Salt Lake City, Utah.  Plaintiff 



Merrilyn Romen is a subscriber of Verizon and has been during the relevant time period 

and residing at 23901 Civic Center Way, No. 349, Malibu, California.  Plaintiff Brad 

Marston is a subscriber of Verizon and has been during the relevant time period and 

residing at 9 Hidden Street, Rhode Island. Plaintiffs Theodore Jonathan Morris and 

Sharon Ann Morris are Verizon subscribers and have been during the relevant time 

period and residing at 225 Northeast Ernst Street, Oak Harbor, Washington.   Plaintiff 

Serge Popper is a Verizon subscriber since 1996 and residing in Goode, Virginia. 

 Plaintiff Greg L. Smith is a Verizon subscriber and has been during the relevant time 

period and residing at 79 Jug Hill Road, Milton Mills, New Hampshire.  Plaintiff Michael 

Brooks is a Verizon subscriber and has been during the relevant time period and residing 

at 3310 U.S. Veterans Hospital Road, Portland, Oregon.  Plaintiff Michael S. Rothmel is 

a Verizon subscriber and has been during the relevant time period and residing in Mount 

Holly, New Jersey.  Plaintiff Ray Anderson is a Verizon subscriber since May 2002 and 

residing at University of California, Department of Earth System Science, Croul Hall, 

Irvine, California.  Plaintiff John Barrett is a Verizon subscriber since 1995 and residing 

at 26 West Drive, Brick, New Jersey.  Plaintiff Michael Brooks is a Verizon subscriber 

since 2002 and residing at 1601 16th Street, Oregon City, Oregon.  Plaintive Peter 

Catizone is a Verizon subscriber since 2001 and residing at 48 Pinckney Street, 

Somerville, Massachusetts.  Plaintiff Sharon L. Davis is a subscriber of Verizon and has 

been during the relevant time period and residing at 6845 South Webster Street, Unit G, 

Littleton, Colorado.  Plaintiff Plaintiff Diane Gavlinski is a subscriber of Verizon since 

1991 and residing at 6419 Woodland Lane, New Port Richie, Florida.  Plaintiff Toni 

DiDona is a subscriber of Verizon has has been during the relevant time period and 



residing at 2173 North West 99th Avenue, Miami, Florida.  Plaintiff Theresa R. Duffy is a 

subscriber of Verizon since 1993 and residing at 38 Washington Street, Phillipsburg, 

New Jersey.  Plaintiff Sarah Folio is a subscriber of Verizon and has been during the 

relevant time period and residing at 13868 Garrett Highway, Oakland, Maryland.  

Plaintiff Margaret Franklin is a subscriber of Verizon and has been during the relevant 

time period and residing at 16 King James Court, Scotch Plains, New Jersey.  Plaintiff Jit 

Gill is a subscriber of Verizon and has been during the relevant time period and residing 

at 312D Saint Thomas Drive, Newport News, Virginia.  Plaintiff Todd Graff is a 

subscriber of Verizon since 2000 and residing at 1369 Arch Street, Emmaus, 

Pennsylvania.  Plaintiff Susan Grossman is a subscriber of Verizon since 2000 and 

residing at 6050 Boulevard East, Apartment 6E, West New York, New Jersey.  Plaintiffs 

Don and Donna Hawkings are subscribers of Verizon since 2003 and residing at 5845 

Apt. F, Century Oaks Drive, Fayetteville, North Carolina. Plaintiffs Stephanie Gustave 

and Kevin Shawler are subscribers to Verizon since June 2003 and residing at 6321 Karl 

Road, Columbus, Ohio.  Plaintiff Joyce Jackson is a Verizon subscriber since 2004 and 

residing at 3501 Brittany Cove North West, Kennesaw, Georgia.  Plaintiff Eleanor M. 

Lynn, Esq. is a Verizon subscriber and has been during the relevant time period and  

residing at 18-2 America Way, Salem, Massachusetts.  Plaintiff Terry Mancour is a 

subscriber of Verizon and has been during the relevant time period and residing at 5004 

Autumn Drive, Durham, North Carolina.  Plaintiff Alicia McCollum is a subscriber of 

Verizon and has been during the relevant time period and residing at 16670 98th Road, 

Hoyt, Kansas.  Plaintiff Chris von Obenauer is a subscriber of Verizon and has been 

during the relevant time period and residing at 633 Third Street North, Apt. 2, St. 



Petersburg, Florida.  Plaintiff Dan Patton is a subscriber of Verizon since 1999 and 

residing at 1301 20th St. NW, Unit 101, Washington, DC.  Plaintiff Serge Popper is a 

subscriber of Verizon since 1996 and residing at PO Box 67, Goode, Virginia.  Plaintiff 

Martin Razo is a subscriber of Verizon since 2001 and residing at 417 Kendall 

Boulevard, Oaklyn, New Jersey.  Plaintiff Mark Richards is a subscriber of Verizon and 

has been during the relevant time period and residing at 29 Juniper Road, Littleton, 

Massachusetts.  Plaintiffs Fred and Darlene Rogers are subscribers of Verizon since 1989 

and residing at 2264 Holly Springs Road, Rockmart, Georgia.  Plaintiff William J. 

Romansky is a subscriber of Verizon and has been during the relevant time and residing 

at 55 South Hook Road, Pennsville, New Jersey.  Plaintiff Gregory L. Smith is a 

subscriber of Verizon and has been during the relevant time period and residing at 79 Jug 

Hill Road, Milton Mills, New Hampshire.  Plaintiffs Paul and Regina Sundberg are 

subscribers of Verizon and have been during the relevant time period and residing at 224 

Dowler Drive, South Bloomfield, Ohio.  Plaintiff Barry W. Tribble is a subscriber of 

Verizon and has been during the relevant time period and residing at 7825 Buck Creek 

Road, Marion, North Carolina.  Plaintiff Fred Trinkoff is a subscriber of Verizon and has 

been during the relevant time period and residing at 32 Royal Crest Drive, Apt. 5, 

Marlborough, Massachusetts.  Plaintiff Vickie Votaw is a subscriber of Verizon since 

2003 and residing at 655 Thomas Road, Madison Heights, Virginia.  Plaintiff Leon 

Dwight Wallace is a subscriber of Verizon residing at 1226 Franklin Street #2, Santa 

Monica, California.  Plaintiffs Achieng Warambo and Ulrich Geister are subscribers of 

Verizon and have been during the relevant time period and residing at 1214 Arlington 

Avenue, Teaneck, New Jersey.  Plaintiff Beth White is a subscriber of Verizon and has 



been during the relevant time period and residing at 115 South Rutan Number 4-I, 

Wichita, Kansas.  Plaintiff Justin Wiley is a subscriber of Verizon and has been during 

the relevant time period and residing at 410-B Market Street, Santa Cruz, California.  

Plaintiff Kevin Wright is a subscriber of Verizon residing at 11156 Acama Street Number 

103, Studio City, California.  Plaintiff Simon Champagne is a subscriber of Verizon and 

has been during the relevant time period and residing at 2548 Morning Glory Place, 

Lawrenceville, Georgia.  Plaintiff James Flynn is a subscriber of Verizon and has been 

during the relevant time period and residing at 701 Maple Avenue, Apt 307, LaPorte, 

Indiana.  Plaintiff Elizabeth T. Arnone is a subscriber of Verizon since 2000 and residing 

at 7 Jetty Ct., Brick, New Jersey.  Upon information and belief, plaintiff Jay H. Rowell is 

a subscriber of Verizon since August 2005 and residing at 711 W. Montrose #3, Chicago, 

Illinois.  Upon information and belief, plaintiff Daniel Reimann is a subscriber of 

Verizon and residing at Apt. 1409 Briny Avenue, Pompano Beach, Florida.  Upon 

information and belief, plaintiff Vivian Phillips is a subscriber of Verizon and residing at 

717 Carl Drive, Chapel Hill, North Carolina.  Plaintiff Jeffrey G. Marsocci is a subscriber 

of Verizon  and residing at 8406 Six Forks Road, Suite 102, Raleigh, North Carolina.  

REPRESENTATIVE BELLSOUTH SUBSCRIBERS 

2. Plaintiff Rev. Joe McMurray is a subscriber to BellSouth Corporation (BellSouth) 

since August 2005 and residing at Trinity Methodist Community Church, 11604 SW 

Archer Rd., Gainesville, Florida.  Plaintiff Ilene Pruett, is a subscriber of BellSouth and 

Verizon, and has been during the relevant time period and residing at 830 W. 54th Street, 

Anniston, Alabama,.  Plaintiff Thomas Michael Fain is a subscriber of BellSouth and has 

been during the relevant time period and residing at 2412 Wertherson Lane, Raleigh, 



North Carolina.  Plaintiff John Fitzpatrick is a subscriber of BellSouth since May 1989 

and residing at PO Box 1171 Boynton Beach, Florida.  Plaintiff Linda Gettier is a 

subscriber of BellSouth and has been during the relevant time period and residing in 

Raleigh, North Carolina.  Plaintiff Anthony Barthelemy is a subscriber of BellSouth and 

has been during the relevant time period and residing at 2359 Southwest 23d Street, 

Miami, Florida..  Plaintiff Jane Winston is a subscriber of BellSouth since 1999 and 

residing at 1845 SW 18th Street, Miami, Florida.  Plaintiff John Clark is a subscriber of 

BellSouth and has been during the relevant period and residing at 87100 Branch Drive, 

Yulee, Florida.  Plaintiffs  Jane and Mark Youd are subscribers of BellSouth since 1977 

and residing at 3 Magnolia Drive North, Ormond Beach, Florida.  Plaintiffs Linda J. and 

G. Lawrence Gettier are subscribers of BellSouth and have been during the relevant time 

period and residing at 3317 Horseshoe Bend, Raleigh, North Carolina.  Plaintiffs Carolyn 

R. and Douglas S. Hensley are subscribers of BellSouth since 1992 and residing at 4609 

Woodridge Drive, Raleigh, North Carolina.  Plaintiff Peter Hollings is a subscriber of 

BellSouth and has been during the relevant time period and residing at 122 Tuxedo 

Terrace NW, Atlanta, Georgia.  Plaintiff Lisa Lockwood is a subscriber to BellSouth 

since 2005 and residing at 2220 Constitution Court, Roswell, Georgia. Plaintiff Clyde 

Michael Morgan is a subscriber of BellSouth and has been during the relevant time 

period and residing at PO Box 274, Swannanoa, North Carolina.  Plaintiff Simon 

Champagne is a subscriber to BellSouth and has been during the relevant time period and 

residing at 2548 Morning Glory Place, Lawrenceville, Georgia.  Plaintiffs Fred and 

Darlene Rogers are subscribers to BellSouth since February 2005 and residing at 2264 

Holly Springs Road, Rockmart, Georgia. James Hall is a subscriber of Verizon (?) and 



residing at 3069 Holmesville Road, Magnolia, Michigan (?).  Plaintiff John McIntyre is a 

subscriber of Bell South and residing at 5012 Fernwood Road, Magnolia, Michigan (?). 

REPRESENTATIVE AT&T SUBSCRIBERS 

3. Plaintiff  Reverend Joe McMurray is a subscriber to AT&T Inc. (AT&T) and has 

been during the relevant time period and residing at Trinity Methodist Community 

Church, 11604 SW Archer Rd., Gainesville, Florida. Plaintiff Dr. Trudy Bond is a 

subscriber of AT&T and has been during the relevant time period and residing at 3131 

Executive Pkwy., Suite 104, Toledo, Ohio.  Plaintiff Eleanor M. Lynn, Esq. is a 

subscriber of AT&T since 2005 and residing at 18-2 America Way, Salem, 

Massachusetts.  Plaintiff Barbara Langer is a subscriber of AT&T and has been during 

the relevant time period and residing in Evanston, Illinois.  Plaintiffs Pam and Vern 

Haddon are subscribers of AT&T and have been during the relevant time period and 

residing 2444 S. Peoria Avenue, Tulsa, Oklahoma. Plaintiff Donald Herron is an AT&T 

subscriber and has been during the relevant time period.  Plaintiff Kingsley Clark is a 

subscriber of AT&T since October 2003 and residing at 6730 South Shore Drive, 

Chicago, Illinois.  Plaintiff Thomas M. Cleaver is a subscriber of AT&T since 1999 and 

residing at 6733 South Shore Drive, Chicago, Illinois.  Plaintiff Peter B. Collins is a 

subscriber of AT&T since January 2002 and residing at Collins Media Services, 503 D 

Street #5, San Rafael, California.  Plaintiff Sharon L. Davis is a subscriber of AT&T 

since 2001 and residing 6845 S. Webster Street, Unit G., Littleton, Colorado.  Plaintiff 

Margaret Franklin is a subscriber of AT&T and has been during the relevant time period 

and residing at 16 King James Court, Scotch Plains, New Jersey.  Plaintiff Dawn Furler is 

a subscriber of AT&T and has been during the relevant time period and residing at 902 



Elwell Avenue, Greensboro, North Carolina.  Plaintiffs Linda J. and G. Lawrence Gettier 

are subscribers of AT&T and have been during the relevant time period and residing at 

3317 Horseshoe Bend, Raleigh, North Carolina.  Plaintiff Marc Goldstone is a subscriber 

to AT&T since 1978 and residing at 4090 Yucca Street, Bullhead City, Arizona.  Plaintiff 

Susan Grossman is a subscriber of AT&T since 2000 and residing at 6050 Boulevard 

East, Apt. 6E, West New York, New Jersey.  Plaintiffs Carolyn R. and Douglas S. 

Hensley are subscribers of AT&T since 1992 and residing at 4609 Woodridge Drive, 

Raleigh, North Carolina.   Plaintiff Scott Livesay is a subscriber of AT&T and has been 

during the relevant time period and residing at 2038 North Hoover St. #3, Los Angeles, 

California.  Plaintiffs Nancy K. Lorey and Gerard P. Clerkin are subscribers of AT&T 

and have been during the relevant time period and residing at 4629 Payne Koehler Road, 

New Albany, Indiana. Plaintiff Fran Nobile is a subscriber off AT&T since November, 

1992 and residing at 1049 Stillwater Road, Newton, New Jersey.  Plaintiff Jeremy 

Puhlman is a subscriber of AT&T since 2000 and residing at 1908 Sylvan Avenue, 

Modesto, California.  Plaintiff Kathleen Rogers is a subscriber of AT&Tsince 2001 and 

residing at 443 South San Pedro Street #307, Los Angeles, California.  Plaintiff Anna F. 

Shallenberger is a subscriber of AT&T since 2002 and residing at 7554 Cornel Avenue, 

University City, Missouri. Plaintiff Robert Stewart is a subscriber of AT&T since 1999 

and residing at 16606 Torry View Terrace, Houston, Texas.  Plaintiff Allen T. Trader III 

is a subscriber of AT&T and has been during the relevant time period and residing at 

3987 Brushy Ridge Way, Suwanee, Georgia.  Plaintiff Beth White is a subscriber of 

AT&T and has been during the relevant time period and residing at 115 South Rutan No. 

4�I, Wichita, Kansas.  Plaintiff Fran Nobile is a subscriber of AT&T and has been during 



the relevant time period and residing at 1049 Stillwater Road, Newton, New Jersey.  

Plaintiff Simon Champagne is a subscriber of AT&T and has been during the relevant 

time period and residing at 2548 Morning Glory Place, Lawrenceville, Georgia.  Plaintiff 

Deborah Dogherty is a subscriber of AT&T and has been during the relevant time period 

and residing at 7050 Arapano Road #1058, Dallas, Texas.  Plaintiff Elizabeth T. Arnone 

is a subscriber of AT&T since 1977 and residing at 7 Jetty Ct., Brick, New Jersey.  

Plaintiff Gina de Miranda is a subscriber of AT&T since 2002 and residing at PO Box 

151, Hondo, Texas.  Plaintiff James T. McGratton is a subscriber of AT&T since 1971 

and residing at 22021 Bruce Avenue, Euclid, Ohio.   Plaintiff Bridget Irving is a 

subscriber of AT&T since January 1989. 

DEFENDANT TELEPHONE CARRIERS 

4. Defendants Verizon, BellSouth and AT&T are telephone carriers regulated by the 

Telecommunications Act of 1934 and related statutes and regulations. 

UNITED STATES DEFENDANTS 

5. Defendant National Security Agency (NSA) is a division and instrumentality of 

the United States charged by statute with foreign intelligence gathering within the 

geographical territory of the United States. 

6. Defendant George W. Bush is the President of the United States and has executive 

responsibility for seeking and requesting subscriber information from the defendant 

telephone carriers in violation of 18 U.S.C. 2702, et seq., and related statutes and 

regulations, and is further a representative defendant of the United States. 



JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

7. Jurisdiction is based upon a question or controversy arising under the Constitution 

and laws of the United States pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 1331. 

8. Venue is properly within the Southern District of New York in that defendant 

carriers Verizon and AT&T have headquarters or corporate offices in and conduct 

business within this jurisdiction, that defendant carrier BellSouth conducts business 

within this jurisdiction, and that Defendants NSA and George W. Bush have gathered 

intelligence against telephone subscribers in this jurisdiction and that plaintiffs and 

defendant carriers routinely and regularly place telephone calls within and to this 

jurisdiction.  Venue is further properly grounded within this jurisdiction in that plaintiffs, 

some or all, reside in said jurisdiction and/or place telephone calls within and to said 

jurisdiction. 

FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

9. On or about May 11, 2006 it was disclosed in media reports, see USA Today, May 

11, 2006, that the NSA has engaged in a continuing program of intelligence gathering 

directed against U.S. telephone subscribers of Verizon, BellSouth and ATT.   

10. Following these reports, Verizon, BellSouth, AT&T, defendant Bush and the 

NSA have not denied disclosure of telephone subscriber records without warrant or 

subpoena. 

11. On or about May 12, 2006 Verizon admitted making disclosures by stating that it 

does not give �unfettered access� to its subscriber records; such statement failed to deny 

that Verizon gave subscriber information to the government without warrant or subpoena 



under circumstances in which it would have been expected that Verizon would deny such 

actions if they had not taken place.   

12. Purportedly launched shortly after September 11, 2001, the program consists of 

recording and/or transferring data associated with telephone calls placed by subscribers 

within or without the United States and maintaining such data in a data base controlled by 

the NSA.   

13. The initial disclosure of the intelligence gathering program on or about May 11, 

2006 identified that disclosure of subscriber records was without warrant or subpoena and 

was non-particularized, being directed against telephone subscribers generally without 

individual suspicion or probable cause of criminal or terrorist activity or associations.   

14. The initial disclosure of the intelligence gathering program identified that such 

information is provided by defendant carriers under contract or other arrangement with 

the NSA for the purpose of enabling the NSA to create a data base consisting of the 

telephone calling histories of all subscribers in the United States allegedly for the purpose 

of monitoring terrorist networks and their telephone calling patterns.   

15. This program, which makes use of a technique known as �data mining�, is a part 

of and/or related to the Total Information Awareness program established by the United 

States Government through the NSA, the Defense Intelligence Agency and the 

Department of Defense, designed to map networks and patterns of phone calls made in 

the United States and to maintain surveillance on the use of the United States telephone 

network and the internet without warrant or subpoena.  The allegations in this Complaint 

are deemed by Plaintiffs to be equally applicable to any United States agency or entity 

that sought, contracted for and/or received disclosure of telephone subscriber information 



on behalf of the NSA or that acted in such manner independent of the NSA on behalf of 

the United States and the United States is joined as a defendant herein through President 

Bush�s representative capacity. 

16. The program is intended to give the government the physical capacity to obtain 

such information without court authorization or warrant: 

"As the director of the effort, Vice Adm. John M. Poindexter, has described the 
system in Pentagon documents and in speeches, it will provide intelligence analysts 
and law enforcement officials with instant access to information from internet mail 
and calling records to credit card and banking transactions and travel documents, 
without a search warrant." The New York Times, 9 November 2002. 
 
17. Said program, as described above, is illegal. 

18. Said program, as described above and as set forth within is without warrant, 

subpoena or other particularized legal basis as set forth in 18 U.S.C. 2702 and related 

statutes or regulations. 

19. Since at least on or about September 11, 2001 such information has been gathered 

by or for the ultimate use of the NSA or other government agency from defendant 

Verizon, BellSouth and AT&T�s subscribers in the United States without their knowledge 

and active consent, without particularized suspicion of wrongdoing and without warrant 

or subpoena. 

20. Upon information and belief, Verizon, BellSouth and AT&T have been paid by 

the NSA for their services in disclosing this information. 

21. The program of intelligence gathering against U.S. telephone subscribers is 

without issuance of warrants, without consent of the subscribers and without the benefit 

of statutory authorization.  Until its disclosure on May 11, 2006 said program was 

without knowledge of the subscribers.  



22. No suspicion of terrorist activity or other criminal activity or terrorist association 

has been alleged against the subscribers and no probable cause has been demonstrated by 

the United States against any of said subscribers. 

23. The intelligence-gathering program has been maintained, administered and 

carried out without regard to actual allegations of criminal conduct or terrorist association 

against subscribers. 

24. The intelligence-gathering program has been maintained, administered and 

carried out without regard to actual allegations of civil wrongdoing against subscribers. 

25. No basis in law exists for the NSA�s program. 

VERIZON�S ADMISSIONS OF SUBSCRIBER RECORDS DISCLOSURES 

Verizon Admission to Subscriber Norman LeBoon, Sr. 
 

26. Norman LeBoon, Sr. is a Verizon landline subscriber residing in Philadelphia, 

Pennsylvania. 

27. On or about May 12, 2006, Verizon acknowledged and expressly declared to 

Subscriber LeBoon that his records had been disclosed to the NSA pursuant to the 

intelligence gathering program disclosed in the May 11 media reports.   

28. On May 11, 2006 after reading the USA Today article disclosing the intelligence 

gathering program, Subscriber LeBoon sent an e-mail to Verizon objecting that records 

were being given to the government and asking if his records were turned over.  Verizon 

issued tracking number 14497914 in connection with Subscriber LeBoon�s inquiry. 

29. On the following day, May 12, 2006, Subscriber LeBoon received a reply from 

�Albert� at Verizon�s Encore customer service office stating substantially that Verizon 



could not comment affirmatively or negatively as to the existence of such a program 

because of national security concerns.   

30. Within approximately five minutes of receiving the e-mail reply Subscriber 

LeBoon called the Encore customer service center and asked to speak with Albert.  He 

was told by a woman who answered that �Albert was busy� but that she �would be glad 

to help�. 

31. Upon inquiry, the woman at the Encore customer service center identified herself 

as �Ellen�. 

32. Subscriber LeBoon told Ellen that he had e-mailed Verizon asking �if my records 

have been shared with the government, the NSA, the CIA or anyone without my 

authorization.�  He then told Ellen he had received a reply from Albert that did not 

answer his inquiry.  Subscriber LeBoon then asked Ellen whether his records have been 

given to the government. 

33. Ellen expressly confirmed to LeBoon that his records have been given to the 

government.  Ellen stated as follows: 

�I can tell you Mr. LeBoon that your records have been shared with the government, 
but that�s between you and me.� 
 
34. Ellen then told LeBoon that Verizon would deny that it has disclosed the records 

and that Verizon was operating under the assumption that it had �plausible deniability�.  

Ellen told Subscriber LeBoon: 

�They [Verizon] are going to deny it because of national security.  The government is 
denying it and we have to deny it, too.  Around here we are saying that Verizon has 
�plausible deniability.� � 
 



35. Subscriber LeBoon then asked, �So there�s going to be no resolution about the 

company telling people what they did?  Ellen replied, �That�s right -- plausible 

deniability.� 

36. Subscriber LeBoon then said, �That�s pathetic, why is this happening.  Ellen 

replied, �Sir we�re at war. �  

37. Subscriber LeBoon repeated, �So there�s going to be no resolution of this?�  Ellen 

replied, �Bingo.�   

Verizon Admission to Subscriber Mark Baker 

38. Between May 11 and May 16, 2006, Verizon subscriber Mark Baker 

communicated by e-mail and telephone with Verizon customer service representatives, 

supervisors and senior management.  On each of these occasions Baker expressed his 

opposition to Verizon�s turning over of customer records to the NSA or any other 

government agency without warrant or subpoena.   

39. In the first of such conversations, on or about May 16, 2006, Subscriber Baker 

told a Verizon customer service supervisor that he objected to his records being turned 

over to the NSA or any other government agency.  

40. In reply, the customer service supervisor expressly acknowledged to Baker that 

Verizon has turned its subscriber records over to the NSA.  After making such admission, 

the supervisor proceeded to ask Baker,   

�Are you involved in a criminal activity such that you are concerned with us turning 
over your records?� 

 



 

VerizonAdmission to Subscriber Michael Colonna 

41. On May 11, 2006, after reading the USA Today article published that day, 

Verizon subscriber Michael Colonna, a resident of Hackettstown, New Jersey, called the 

Verizon customer service number on his wireless statement.   

42. Subscriber Colonna informed the customer services representative that he was 

�upset at the disclosures [of subscriber records]� to the government and wanted �to get 

out of my wireless contract without payment of the usual termination fee.�   

43. Subscriber Colonna believed that the disclosure of subscriber records was in 

violation of the understandings he had as a Verizon subscriber and believed that these 

circumstances justified a termination of his contract with Verizon.   

44. The customer service representative placed Colonna on hold while he went to 

speak to a Verizon supervisor concerning Colonna�s request. 

45. Upon returning, the customer service representative told Colonna that although 

the records of other Verizon customers were disclosed, the records of Verizon wireless 

customers were not disclosed. Colonna reports he was told the following: 

�You should not be concerned because we did not give away records of Verizon 
Wireless customers � that applied to Verizon customers, not Verizon Wireless 
customers.�  

 
Conversation of Michael Colonna with Verizon Customer Service Supervisor, May 11, 

2006 [emphasis added]. 



ADMISSIONS  AGAINST INTEREST OF DEFENDANT CARRIER VERIZON 

Verizon�s First Admission Against Interest 
 

46. In the media reports of May 11, 2006, Defendant Verizon was directly and 

specifically accused of disclosing its subscriber calling information and histories to the 

United States government without warrant or subpoena.   

47. Despite such direct and specific accusations Verizon has refused to and failed to 

deny that it or its MCI long distance unit gave subscriber telephone records or subscriber 

calling information or histories to the United States government without warrant or 

subpoena. 

48. Beginning on or about May 12, 2006, defendant Verizon made public 

representations in response to the allegations of its participation in the intelligence 

gathering program disclosed on the preceding day, May 11, 2006. 

49. At no time in the course of such representations, made in direct response to the 

disclosures of May 11, 2006, did Verizon deny that it had disclosed subscriber calling 

information and histories without warrant or subpoena. 

50. In the first of said representations, Verizon stated only that: 

"Verizon does not, and will not, provide any government agency unfettered access to 
our customer records or provide information to the government under circumstances 
that would allow a fishing expedition.� [Emphasis added]. 
 
51. By such statement Verizon failed to deny the principal allegations that it had 

given access to customer records to the NSA without warrant or subpoena.   

52. Such statement operates as an admission against Verizon�s interest. 

53. By such statement Verizon admits that it gave the government access to its 

customer records, albeit not �unfettered access�, and fails to deny that it gave such 



information without warrant or subpoena, as was charged in the disclosures of May 11, 

2006.  See Statement of Verizon Communications, Inc., May 11, 2006. 

54. Verizon�s failure to deny that it gave access to its subscriber records to the 

government without warrant or subpoena, under circumstances in which it would be 

expected to deny such charge if it was false, operates as an admission of liability. 

Verizon�s Second Admission Against Interest 

55. On or about May 15, 2006, Verizon issued a second statement in response to the 

charges of May 11, 2006. 

56. In this second statement, Verizon again refused to deny that it had given customer 

information to the NSA contending only that it had not been approached by the NSA to 

provide �customer phone records�: 

�One of the most glaring and repeated falsehoods in the media reporting is the 
assertion that, in the aftermath of the 9/11 attacks, Verizon was approached by NSA 
and entered into an arrangement to provide the NSA with data from its customers� 
domestic calls.� 

 
�This is false.  From the time of the 9/11 attacks until just four months ago, Verizon 
had three major businesses � its wireline phone business, its wireless company and its 
directory publishing business.  It also had its own Internet Service Provider and long-
distance businesses.  Contrary to the media reports, Verizon was not asked by NSA to 
provide, nor did Verizon provide, customer phone records from any of these 
businesses, or any call data from those records.  None of these companies � wireless 
or wireline � provided customer records or call data.� 
 

Statement of Verizon Spokesman, Peter Thonis, May 15, 2006 [emphasis added]. 

57. In this second statement Verizon purports to assert that its wireless, wireline and 

internet businesses gave no customer phone records or call data to the NSA.    

58. First, such statement has been controverted by Verizon�s admissions to 

subscribers LeBoon, Baker and Colonna that it has given customer records to the 



government.  See Verizon Admissions to Subscribers LeBoon, Baker and Colonna, 

supra. 

59. Second, this statement makes no reference to MCI, the long distance carrier that 

Verizon acquired in February 2006, and for whose legal liabilities Verizon is now 

responsible.   

60. On or about May 15, 2006, Verizon�s spokesman, Peter Thonis, confirmed 

publicly that MCI, Verizon�s long distance calling unit, was not included in Verizon�s 

purported denial.  

61. Upon express inquiries by representatives of the media, Verizon spokesman 

Thonis refused to deny that MCI had made disclosures of subscriber records to the NSA. 

62. On May 13, 2006, Verizon�s media relations office stated: 

�In January 2006, Verizon acquired MCI, and we are ensuring that Verizon�s policies 
are implemented at that entity and that all its activities fully comply with law.� 

 
Statement of Robert A.Varettoni, Senior Manager, Verizon Media Relations, May 13, 

2006. 

63. By virtue of this May 13 statement of Manager Varettoni, Verizon has created an 

issue of fact as to whether policies prohibiting participation in the NSA program were in 

place at MCI prior to its acquisition by Verizon. 

64. By virtue of Verizon�s refusal to include MCI in its denial of disclosure of 

subscriber information, Verizon has created an issue of fact as to whether its MCI unit 

disclosed subscriber records without warrant or subpoena.   

65. Verizon�s intentional and knowing exclusion of MCI from its statement denying 

that it had disclosed customer information to the government, in circumstances in which 

Verizon would be expected to deny such allegations if they were false, operates as an 



admission against interest by Verizon that its MCI unit disclosed customer information to 

the government without warrant or subpoena. 

66. Consequently, Verizon�s statement of May 15, 2006 fails to controvert or deny 

the allegations in the media reports of May 11, 2006 that it had disclosed customer 

records and calling histories to the government and creates an issue of fact as to whether 

MCI disclosed customer records and calling histories and information to the government. 

Verizon�s High Speed Transmission Line to Quantico, Virginia 

67. Upon information and belief, Verizon through its Verizon Wireless division  (dba 

Cellco Partnership) or affiliate has engaged and maintained and still does maintain a high 

speed data transmission line from its wireless call center to a remote location in Quantico, 

Virginia, the site of a U.S. government intelligence and military base.   

68. Verizon Wireless permitted the installation of a high speed transmission line in its 

Wireless data center that had the capacity to transfer volumes of data from the carrier to 

an external third party located in Quantico, Virginia, the site of a United States 

intelligence and military base.  

69. The transmission line at the data center was labeled �Quantico� and was known to 

all employees at the data center as a transmission line terminating at a remote location in 

Quantico, Virginia. 

70. By virtue of the high speed transmission line, the Quantico recipient was enabled 

by Verizon to receive real time information as to all customer calling data and 

transmission of real time contemporaneous calls including call history information and 

content.  



71. The Verizon data center where the Quantico line was situated was a clearing 

house for all calls placed on the Verizon Wireless network; among the data center�s 

functions was to survey all wireless calls placed on the network to determine if wireless 

telephone numbers had been accessed by parties illegally; to carry out such function the 

data center required access to all calls placed on the Verizon Wireless network. 

72. Because the data center was a clearing house for all Verizon Wireless calls, the 

transmission line provided the Quantico recipient direct access to all content and all 

information concerning the origin and termination of telephone calls placed on the 

Verizon Wireless network as well as the actual content of calls. 

73. The transmission line was unprotected by any firewall and would have enabled 

the recipient on the Quantico end to have unfettered access to Verizon Wireless customer 

records, data and information.  Any customer databases, records and information could 

be downloaded from this center.  

74. Verizon Wireless officials, placed the high speed transmission line off-limits to 

Verizon employees responsible for protecting the integrity of Verizon Wireless data from 

external intruders.   

75.  Said high speed transmission line to Quantico was first publicly disclosed in a 

report by journalist Seymour Hersh in the New Yorker magazine in May 2006.  

76. Counsel have since been informed that said transmission line was installed at the 

Verizon Wireless data center, a division and/or affiliate of defendant Verizon.  

77. Based upon the foregoing and upon information and belief, Verizon Wireless 

maintained an unprotected high speed transmission line at its Wireless data center 

terminating at a remote location in Quantico, Virginia that would have enabled the 



recipient to have unfettered and unrestricted access to all Verizon Wireless data and voice 

content.   

78. Upon information and belief the line to Quantico fed Verizon Wireless data to a 

U.S. government agency situated in or near Quantico, Virginia. 

79.  Unlike all other transmission lines at the data center, the �Quantico� line was not 

connected to any firewall that would have restricted access to Verizon�s records and the  

�Quantico� recipient was thereby enabled by Verizon to access all calls, calling histories 

and content placed on the Verizon Wireless network.   

80. Upon information and belief, and based upon the foregoing, Verizon in or about 

2003, and upon further information and belief at other times, gave unlimited, unrestricted 

and unfettered access to all wireless call data, information and contents to a government 

agency situated in Quantico, Virginia. 

 

Defendant ATT�s Construction of a Call Monitoring Center 

for the Exclusive Use of the NSA. 

81. Within eleven (11) days of the onset of the Bush administration, and at least seven 

(7) months prior to the attacks of September 11, 2001, defendant ATT began 

development of a center for monitoring long distance calls and internet transmissions and 

other digital information for the exclusive use of the NSA. 

82. The center was put into development by ATT following a proposal by the NSA 

for the construction and development of a network operations center identical to ATT�s 

own network operations center located in Bedminster, New Jersey for the exclusive use 

of the NSA.   



83. The NSA proposal was accepted by the ATT sales division and referred to ATT 

Solutions, an ATT project development division situated in Florham Park, New Jersey. 

84. The NSA proposal sought construction of a duplicate ATT Network Operations 

Center for the exclusive use of the NSA with the capacity to monitor all calls and internet 

traffic placed on the ATT long distance network, as well as ATT�s wide area, fiber optic, 

T-1, T-3, T-5 and high speed data networks.   

85. Such a data center would also enable the NSA to tap into any call placed on the 

ATT network and to monitor the contents of all digital information transmitted over the 

ATT network.   

86. The project was described in the ATT sales division documents as calling for the 

construction of a facility to store and retain data gathered by the NSA from its domestic 

and foreign intelligence operations but was to be in actuality a duplicate ATT Network 

Operations Center for the use and possession of the NSA that would give the NSA direct, 

unlimited, unrestricted and unfettered access to all call information and internet and 

digital traffic on ATT�s long distance networks.   

87. Said data center would enable the NSA to tap into any phone line and to monitor 

any digital transfer of information on ATT�s networks including voice telephone calls, 

facsimile transmission and all internet traffic. 

88. Such project was in development not later than February 1, 2001, within eleven 

(11) days of the onset of the Bush Administration. 

89. The NSA program was initially conceived at least one year prior to 2001 but had 

been called off; it was reinstated within 11 days of the entry into office of defendant 

George W. Bush. 



90. The NSA program was code-named Pioneer-Groundbreaker and was also known 

at ATT Solutions division as GEMS (Groundbreaker Enterprise System). 

91. International Business Machines Corporation (IBM) was one of the parties 

working with ATT and the NSA to develop the monitoring center and IBM personnel 

participated in meetings with ATT and NSA officials in the development of the 

monitoring center.  

92. Among the purposes of the Pioneer-Groundbreaker project was the storing and 

monitoring of all phone call information coming across ATT�s networks; by means of 

this program NSA sought to duplicate all of the phone call information that came across 

ATT�s networks for real time, contemporaneous analysis or, alternately, for downloading 

and later use by the NSA.   

93. The proposed project was to be a storage entity modeled on ATT�s network 

operations center in Bedminster, New Jersey, and would have the capability to monitor 

all data and traffic that came across ATT lines, including ATT traffic and traffic 

originating from other carriers that used ATT lines or that sent calls to ATT customers.   

94. The NSA was seeking to duplicate the ATT network operations center and sought 

by means of the Pioneer-Groundbreaker program the ability to monitor all traffic coming 

across ATT�s network. 

95. The contact list for the Pioneer-Groundbreaker project consisted of a minimum of 

35 ATT employees dedicated in whole or in part to the Pioneer-Groundbreaker program. 

96. An ATT Solutions logbook reviewed by counsel confirms the Pioneer-

Groundbreaker project start date of February 1, 2001. 



97. The ATT Solutions logbook confirms the dates and transmissions of copies of 

ATT, IBM and NSA e-mails setting forth the existence of the Pioneer-Groundbreaker 

program; said e-mails remain in the custody, possession and control of ATT, IBM and 

NSA. 

98. Said logbook was maintained pursuant to ATT Solutions policy in the regular 

course of business by telecom engineers at ATT Solutions. 

99. Counsel have been informed of the foregoing information by several informants 

who had direct knowledge or who have received direct admissions by ATT personnel as 

to the foregoing facts. 

100. ATT has not denied any of the allegations in the media disclosures of May 

11, 2006. 

101. Accordingly, defendant carrier ATT was engaged in active and knowing 

participation and conspiracy to violate 18 U.S.C. 2702, et seq., in concert with the United 

States not later than February 1, 2001. 

 

Admissions Against Interest of Defendant Carrier BellSouth 

102.  In the reports of May 11, 2006, Defendant BellSouth was directly and 

specifically accused of disclosing its subscriber calling information and histories to the 

United States government without warrant or subpoena.   

103. Despite such direct and specific accusations BellSouth has refused to and 

failed to deny that it gave subscriber telephone records or subscriber calling information 

or histories to the United States government without warrant or subpoena. 



104. Beginning on or about May 15, 2006, defendant BellSouth made public a 

representation in response to the allegations of its participation in the intelligence 

gathering program disclosed on the preceding day, May 11, 2006. 

105. At no time in the course of such representation, made in direct response to 

the disclosures of May 11, 2006, did BellSouth deny that it had disclosed subscriber 

calling information and histories without warrant or subpoena. 

106. On or about May 15, 2006, BellSouth issued the following statement: 

"As a result of media reports that BellSouth provided massive amounts of 
customer calling information under a contract with the NSA the company 
conducted an internal review to determine the facts. Based on our review to date, 
we have confirmed no such contract exists and we have not provided bulk 
customer calling records to the NSA." 

 
Statement of BellSouth Corporation, May 15, 2006. 
 

107. By means of such statement BellSouth has failed to deny that it had a 

contract with the NSA to provide subscriber calling information or that it gave such 

information to the NSA.   

108. The statement that BellSouth had �no such contract� refers only to an 

agreement to provide �bulk customer calling records� [emphasis added]. 

109. BellSouth makes no denial that it provided subscriber calling information 

to the NSA stating only that it did not have an agreement to provide �bulk customer 

calling records�. 

110. Based on the foregoing, BellSouth has failed to controvert the allegations 

that it gave subscriber calling information without warrant or subpoena to the NSA. 

111. BellSouth�s representation of May 15, 2006 in which it failed to deny that 

it gave access to its subscriber records to the government without warrant or subpoena, 



under circumstances in which it would be expected to deny such charge if it was false, 

operates as an admission of liability. 

Qwest�s Refusal to Participate in the Intelligence Gathering Program 

112. Of the four major telecommunications carriers in the United States, only 

Qwest has refused to cooperate in the government�s intelligence gathering program. 

113. Qwest was approached by the NSA in the Fall of 2001, after the 

September 11 attacks, and was asked to participate in said program but refused in the 

absence of either warrants issued by a court under the Foreign Intelligence Surveillance 

Act (FISA), 50 U.S.C. §§1801, et seq., or an opinion of the Attorney General holding that 

such program was lawful. 

114. Qwest�s then-Chief Executive, Joseph P. Nacchio, was approached by the 

NSA in Fall 2001 and asked to participate in the subscriber records surveillance program. 

115. Mr. Nacchio informed the NSA that Qwest would not participate in the 

absence of warrants issued by the FISA court or an opinion of the Attorney General 

validating the legality of such monitoring program. 

116. A statement issued on behalf of Nacchio on Friday, May 11, 2006 stated 

that after the government's first approach in the fall of 2001, "Mr. Nacchio made inquiry 

as to whether a warrant or other legal process had been secured in support of that 

request." 

117. "When he learned that no such authority had been granted, and that there 

was disinclination on the part of the authorities to use any legal process," the statement 

said, Nacchio concluded that the requests violated federal privacy requirements "and 

issued instructions to refuse to comply."  Statement of Herbert J. Stern, Counsel for 

Joseph Nacchio, May 12, 2006. 



118. Nacchio�s attorney, Herbert J. Stern, stated that the chief executive refused 

to authorize Qwest�s participation in the intelligence gathering program because the NSA 

refused to obtain warrants or an opinion letter approving said program and Qwest 

accordingly has not disclosed the telephone history information of its subscribers under 

said program. 

As and for a First Cause of Action 

119. All information set forth above is repeated below. 

120. The intelligence gathering program violates Section 222 of the 

Telecommunications Act of 1934, re-codified as 18 U.S.C. 2702, in that Verizon, 

BellSouth and AT&T have disclosed information �pertaining to a subscriber to or 

customer of such service� without warrant, subpoena, consent or knowledge of said 

subscribers or other particularized legal condition stipulated in said statute. 

121. Accordingly, the intelligence-gathering program violates the protected 

rights of Verizon, BellSouth and AT&T subscribers under section 2702, et seq. in that no 

statutory provision providing for said disclosures has been or can be satisfied. 

122. Wherefore, plaintiffs seek declaratory and injunctive relief prohibiting 

defendant carriers, the NSA, President Bush and other instrumentalities or officers of the 

United States from maintaining, administering or carrying out in any form the 

intelligence gathering program, along with attorneys fees, costs of suit and such other 

relief as to the Court may seem just and proper. 

 

As and for a Second Cause of Action 

123. All information set forth above is repeated below. 



124. The defendant carriers have acted in concert and conspiracy with the 

United States, the NSA, President Bush to violate the statutory and constitutional rights 

of the telephone subscribers, including plaintiffs and all others similarly situated. 

125. Said intelligence gathering program violates the protected constitutional 

rights of the telephone subscribers as follows: 

a.  under the First Amendment to the Constitution of the United States  

which guarantees and gives rise to an expectation of privacy in the making 

of and in the records pertaining to private telephone communications; 

b. under other provisions of the Constitution of the United States as 

articulated generally in Griswold v. Connecticut and subsequent judicial 

pronouncements which provide broad protection of the right to privacy; 

c. under the Fourth Amendment to the Constitution of the United States 

which provides protection against warrantless searches and seizures.  

126. Such intelligence gathering program at minimum requires a warrant issued 

by the Foreign Intelligence Surveillance Court as authorized under the Foreign 

Intelligence Surveillance Act of 1978 (50 U.S.C. §§1801, et seq.). 

127. Said intelligence-gathering program violates the statutory rights of the 

telephone subscribers, including plaintiffs and all others similarly situated, under 18 

U.S.C. 2701, et seq., and related statutes and regulations. 

128. Disclosure of the telephone subscribers� information is prohibited under 

18 U.S.C. 2702, formerly Section 222 of the Telecommunications Act of 1934, and under 

the Constitution of the United States. 



129. As provided in 18 U.S.C. 2707, in the absence of a warrant or consent of 

the subscriber, 

�(3) a provider of remote computing service or electronic communication service to 
the public shall not knowingly divulge a record or other information pertaining to a 
subscriber to or customer of such service (not including the contents of 
communications covered by paragraph (1) or (2)) to any governmental entity.�   

 
18 U.S.C. 2707. 

 

130. Based on the foregoing, plaintiffs on behalf of themselves and all others 

similarly situated, seek monetary damages from all defendants, particularly including 

defendant NSA as an instrumentality of the United States and defendant carriers Verizon, 

Bell South and AT&T, in the minimal amount of $1,000.00 (One Thousand Dollars) per 

violation as set forth in 18 U.S.C. 2707. 

131. Inasmuch as defendant carriers offer subscriptions in aggregate to 

approximately 200 million subscribers, plaintiffs on behalf of said class seek damages 

individually and in the minimal collective amount of $200,000,000,000 (Two Hundred 

Billion Dollars) for said class and damages equal to all profits earned by said defendant 

carriers in connection with the intelligence-gathering program. 

 

As and for a Third Cause of Action 

 
132. All information set forth above is repeated below. 

133. In the alternative, based on the foregoing, plaintiffs on behalf of 

themselves and all others similarly situated, seek monetary damages in the minimal 

amount of $1,000.00 (One Thousand Dollars) per violation as set forth in 18 U.S.C. 2707 

apportioned proportionately among the respective defendant carriers measured by their 



respective share of the aggregate telephone subscribers and their respective share of 

profits earned in connection with the intelligence-gathering program. 

As and for a Fourth Cause of Action 

134. All information set forth above is repeated below. 

135. Based on the aforesaid violations of the Constitution and 18 U.S.C. 2701, 

et seq., and related statutes and regulations, plaintiffs on behalf of themselves and all 

others similarly situated seek non-liquidated monetary damages for violation of their 

expectation of privacy in the making and placing of private telephone communications. 

As and for a Fifth Cause of Action 

136. All information set forth above is repeated below. 

137. Based on the aforesaid violations of the Constitution and 18 U.S.C. 2701, 

et seq., and related statutes and regulations, plaintiffs on behalf of themselves and all 

others similarly situated seek non-liquidated monetary damages for violation of their 

expectation of privacy in the making and placing of private telephone communications a 

measured by the profits earned, received or recouped by said defendant telephone carriers 

in connection with the disclosures of subscriber information pursuant to the intelligence 

gathering program. 

CLASS ACTION REPRESENTATIONS 

138. Pursuant to Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, Rule 23 (a) and (b), all 

named plaintiffs from twenty-seven states in the Union set forth herein above bring this 

action on behalf of the themselves and on behalf of a nationwide class of similarly 

situated persons including the following four (4) classes: 



A.  All individuals who are subscribers in aggregate of Verizon, BellSouth 

and AT&T and whose personal records and calling histories have been 

disclosed by the defendants to the United States government pursuant to 

the warrantless non-consensual intelligence gathering program described 

hereinabove or whose records and calling histories are subject to such 

disclosure. 

B.  All individuals who are subscribers of Verizon and whose personal 

records and calling histories have been disclosed by defendant Verizon to 

the United States government pursuant to the warrantless non-consensual 

intelligence gathering program described hereinabove or whose records 

and calling histories are subject to such disclosure. 

C.  All individuals who are subscribers of BellSouth and whose personal 

records and calling histories have been disclosed by defendant BellSouth 

to the United States government pursuant to the warrantless non-

consensual intelligence gathering program described hereinabove or 

whose records and calling histories are subject to such disclosure. 

D.  All individuals who are subscribers of AT&T and whose personal records 

and calling histories have been disclosed by defendant AT&T to the 

United States government pursuant to the warrantless non-consensual 

intelligence gathering program described hereinabove or whose records 

and calling histories are subject to such disclosure. 

139. Said class and classes seek certification of claims for declaratory and 

injunctive relief and for damages pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 2701, et seq., and the First and 



Fourth Amendments to the United States Constitution and related statutes and 

regulations.   

140. The following factors setting forth class eligibility satisfy the requisites for 

class certification pursuant to Rule 23(a) and (b): 

Numerosity of the Proposed Class and Classes 

141. Numerosity of the classes is self-evident in that the Amended Complaint 

seeks relief on behalf of all subscribers of defendant telephone carriers and their 

individual joinder as plaintiffs is impracticable; seeking individual joinder would be both 

impossible, burdensome to the court and inimical to the interests of justice. 

Common Questions of Law and Fact 

142. The Amended Complaint asserts violations of the subscribers� rights in a 

manner that presents common questions of law and fact in that the rights of all plaintiffs 

are uniform, in a substantially identical legal and factual relation to each other and to the 

defendants, are substantially indistinguishable from each other and present identical 

issues for judicial and factual redress including: 1) whether the defendant carriers and 

U.S. defendants violated 18 U.S.C. 2701, et seq. and related statutes and regulations by 

disclosing the plaintiffs� subscriber records and calling histories to the NSA or any other 

instrumentality of the United States; and 2) whether such disclosure violated plaintiffs 

rights under the First and Fourth Amendments to the United States Constitution and other 

relevant provisions. 

143. Any damages available are set by statute pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 2707 or 

will otherwise apply to all plaintiffs in a substantially equal form. 



Typicality 

144. Plaintiffs� claims are typical of the proposed classes in that plaintiffs are 

all telephone subscribers subject to the identical policies of disclosure by said defendant 

carriers; plaintiffs are also protected by identical statutory and constitutional guarantees 

and forms of redress.  Defendants� actions in violation of the plaintiffs� rights to 

subscriber privacy apply equally and uniformly to all plaintiffs and class members. 

Adequacy 

145. Plaintiffs are adequate class representatives of the proposed classes in that 

their interests do not conflict with the proposed classes and the interests of the class 

members; plaintiffs have retained and associated with competent counsel experienced in 

complex constitutional, civil rights, and class action litigation and intend to prosecute this 

action vigorously.  Plaintiffs are subscribers of the defendant carriers from states all over 

the Nation, representing subscribers of all three defendant carriers, from all geographical 

regions of the United States and will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the 

classes and class members. 

Predominance and Superiority 

146. The common questions of law and fact predominate over the interests of 

any individual plantiffs or class members.  For reasons set forth above, the class action is 

superior to other methods and means of litigating these claims, particularly since the 

individual damages are disproportionately small in relation to the violations of defendants 

as alleged hereinabove and such individual statutory damages will not serve as an 

effective deterrent to such continuing or future violations.  The burden and expense of 

litigation is also disproportionate to the likely potential recovery for individual class 



members; finally, the legal and judicial system could not adequately respond to or serve 

the needs of the vast number of potential individual litigants should separate actions be 

contemplated and the class method of adjudication presents a fairer, more manageable 

method of adjudication, supervision and redress. 

 

WHEREFORE, plaintiffs seek relief and damages as follows; 

1. On the first cause of action, declaratory and injunctive relief prohibiting 
Verizon, BellSouth, AT&T, the NSA or any other instrumentality or officer of 
the United States from disclosing, gathering, collecting and/ or maintaining 
the records and information of Verizon, BellSouth and AT&T�s telephone 
subscribers and their calling histories absent warrant or express consent of the 
subscriber; 

 
2. On the second cause of action for statutory damages as provided under 18 

U.S.C. 2707 measured by the statutory minimum in the amount of $1,000 
(One Thousand Dollars) per violation, with a collective class damage liability 
among defendants jointly equal to approximately $200,000,000,000 (Two 
Hundred Billion Dollars), and their profits earned in connection with the 
intelligence-gathering program, along with reasonable attorneys fees and costs 
of suit; 

 
3. On the third cause of action, in the alternative, for statutory damages as 

provided under 18 U.S.C. 2707 measured by the statutory minimum in the 
amount of $1,000 (One Thousand Dollars) per violation apportioned 
proportionately among the respective defendant carriers measured by their 
respective share of the aggregate telephone subscribers and their respective 
profits earned in connection with the intelligence-gathering program. 

 
4. On the Fourth Cause of Action for unliquidated monetary damages for 

violations of the plaintiffs� and class constitutional rights to privacy under, 
inter alia, the First and Fourth Amendments to the Constitution; 

 
5. On the Fifth Cause of Action for unliquidated monetary damages for 

violations of the plaintiffs� and class constitutional rights to privacy under, 
inter alia, 18 U.S.C. 2702, et seq., and the First and Fourth Amendments to the 
Constitution as measured by the profits earned, received or recouped by said 
defendant telephone carriers in connection with the disclosures of subscriber 
information pursuant to the intelligence gathering program. 

 



6. On all causes of action, punitive damages, along with reasonable attorneys 
fees and costs of suit. 
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